
AGENDA ITEM #11 

TOWN OF FAIRFAX 
STAFF REPORT 

April 7, 2021 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM: Ben Berto, Planning and Building Services Director 
  Garrett Toy, Town Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to contract with EMC Planning Group for services 

to prepare the state mandated update to the Fairfax General Plan Housing 
Element, related updates to the Safety Element and Land Use Element, and the 
required environmental review of the various elements.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Note: At its March 3, 2021 meeting, the Town Council continued this item to the April 7th 
meeting; requested a presentation on new state housing laws, an overview of the Housing 
Element, and key Housing Element requirements including Regional Housing Needs 
Allocations (RHNA) for the March 17th special meeting; and rescheduled the joint special 
study session regarding the Housing Element with the Planning Commission to April 21st.   
 
Specifically, the Council wanted the community to first receive a primer/introduction on the 
Housing Element (HE) before retaining a firm to assist in the process and conducting the 
joint study session with the Planning Commission. The Council continued the HE 
presentation from March 17th to this evening’s meeting.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Authorize the Town Manager to contract with EMC Planning Group to update the Town 
General Plan Housing Element and related elements for an initial total cost of approximately 
$250,000 which includes an initial study/mitigated negative declaration (IS/MND), with the 
ability to authorize the preparation of an environmental impact report, if required, for a total 
not-to-exceed contract amount $413,000.    
  
BACKGROUND  
The San Francisco Bay Area and the Town continue to experience an affordable housing 
crisis.   
 
Work has begun on the process of updating the General Plan Housing Element to plan for 
future housing development consistent with the State-mandated Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation (RHNA) for the next (6th) housing cycle planning period of 2023-2031. Local 
adoption of the updated Housing Element (HE) needs to occur by December 2022 to meet 
deadlines for HE submittal to the State by January 2023.  Fairfax’s Housing Element update 
is occurring alongside what all local and county governments in the state are required to 
perform every 8 years. Staff began discussing the Housing Element update with the 
Planning Commission at their January 21 and February 18 meetings. 
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Although it may not seem long ago, the Town updated and implemented its current Housing 
Element update in 2015.  This current Housing Element runs for the period from 2015-2023, 
and contains detailed information on purposes, State requirements, housing opportunities, 
goals, objectives, policies and programs, and progress towards meeting those items.  
 
Link to current Housing Element:   
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/fairfaxca/uploads/2018/09/Fairfax-Adopted-2015-
2023-HE.pdf.   
 
Updating a Housing Element is a major undertaking, made particularly so by the State’s 
substantial housing increase in the Regional Housing Needs Assessments Allocation 
(RHNA) for communities in the Bay Area.  The RHNA for Fairfax for Cycle 6 is 490 units.  In 
addition, State law requires the General Plan’s Safety Element to be updated along with the 
HE. The Safety Element will need to reflect the analysis of local hazards (e.g., wildfire, flood) 
as it relates to housing. The Land Use Element will also need to be updated to reflect the 
revised Housing Element policies and programs. Updates to the Land Use Element and 
Safety Element were not required as part of the 2015 Housing Element update. 
 
Similar to the Town’s efforts to update its Housing Element in 2015, staff solicited proposals 
from qualified environmental consulting firms with expertise in preparing Housing Elements 
(a total of 8 requests for proposals were sent out).  The Town received one proposal, from 
EMC Planning Group of Monterey. Anecdotally, some of the firms who did not respond 
indicated they were too busy and did not have the resources to perform the work. State HCD 
confirmed that other municipalities have experienced the similar responses to their RFPs 
because of the demand for services due to the earlier HE deadlines for the Southern 
California and the Sacramento areas, and the pending HE deadlines for the San Francisco 
Bay Area. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The attached proposal has been revised from the previous version attached to the March 
3rd staff report. Staff requested EMC to revise their proposal to better reflect two 
environmental processes: A) initial study/mitigated negative declaration (IS/MND) and B) 
environmental impact report (EIR).      
 
Option A is the update of the Housing Element and related General Plan (GP) elements with 
the preparation of an IS/MND. The cost is approximately $250,000.  This includes the costs 
for studies such as traffic and noise that would be required for both the IS/MND and EIR.  
The preparation of the Initial Study will determine the need for an EIR. Before proceeding 
with an EIR, staff will review the Initial Study findings with the Town Council.  It should be 
noted that the 2015 Housing Element update only required a Mitigated Negative Declaration 
(MND).  
 
Option B is the update of the Housing Element (HE) and related General Plan elements with 
the preparation of an EIR.  The HE component along with the studies required for the initial 
study is approximately $214,000. The HE estimate under Option B is lower than Option A 
because we would not be preparing the MND (approx. $24,000 for MND).  The EIR portion 
is approximately $199,000 for a combined total of approximately $413,000.    
 

https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/fairfaxca/uploads/2018/09/Fairfax-Adopted-2015-2023-HE.pdf
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/fairfaxca/uploads/2018/09/Fairfax-Adopted-2015-2023-HE.pdf
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Staff believes that the proposed cost range of the Housing Element update including the 
environmental review is consistent with the costs other communities of our size have or will 
experience.  With the approval of this agreement, EMC Planning Group will be able to assist 
staff with preparing materials and information for the Joint Planning Commission and Town 
Council meeting on the Housing Element update scheduled for April 21st. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Staff has received one (1) and anticipates receiving two (2) additional grants for the Housing 
Element: 1) approximately $100,000 from the SB2 grant, 2) $65,000 from a LEAP grant, and 
3) $20,000 for a REAP grant. The combined total grant revenue is $185,000.  The total cost 
ranges from approximately $250,000 to $413,000. Depending on the chosen environmental 
approach, approximately $65,000 to $228,000 will be used from current or future Planning 
and Building Revenues (Fund 04) to cover the cost.   
 
ATTACHMENT 
EMC Planning Group Proposal  
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